

Metabolic alterations predispose to seizure development in high fat diet-treated mice:
the role of Metformin.

Deleted: epilepsy

Valentina Nesci¹, Emilio Russo^{1,2*}, Biagio Arcidiacono¹, Rita Citraro¹, Martina Tallarico¹,
Andrew Constanti³, Antonio Brunetti¹, Giovambattista De Sarro¹, Antonio Leo¹

¹Science of Health Department, School of Medicine, University “Magna Graecia” of Catanzaro,
Viale Europa e Germaneto, 88100 Catanzaro, Italy.

²C.I.S.-Interdepartmental Services Centre of Veterinary for Human and Animal Health, Magna
Graecia University of Catanzaro, Viale Europa, Loc. Germaneto, 88100 Catanzaro, Italy

³Department of Pharmacology, UCL School of Pharmacy, 29/39 Brunswick Square, London,
United Kingdom.

*Author for correspondence:

Prof. Emilio Russo, PhD,

Department of Science of Health,

C.I.S.-Interdepartmental Services Centre of Veterinary for Human and Animal Health

School of Medicine, University of Catanzaro, Italy

Viale Europa, 88100 Catanzaro, ITALY.

Phone +39 0961 3694191; Fax +39 0961 3694192

e-mail: erusso@unicz.it

Abstract

The link between epilepsy and type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and/or metabolic syndrome (MetS) has been poorly investigated. Therefore, we tested whether a high fat diet (HFD), inducing insulin-resistant diabetes and obesity in mice, would increase susceptibility to develop generalized seizures induced by pentylentetrazole (PTZ) kindling. Furthermore, molecular mechanisms linked to glucose brain transport and the effects of the T2DM antidiabetic drug metformin were also studied along with neuropsychiatric comorbidities. To this aim, two sets of experiments were performed in CD1 mice, in which we firstly evaluated the HFD effects on some metabolic and behavioral parameters in order to have a baseline reference for kindling experiments assessed in the second section of our protocol. We detected that HFD predisposes towards seizure development in the PTZ-kindling model and this was linked to a reduction in glucose transporter-1 (GLUT-1) expression as observed in GLUT-1 deficiency syndrome in humans but accompanied by a compensatory increase in expression of GLUT-3. While we confirmed that HFD induced neuropsychiatric alterations in the treated mice, it did not change the development of kindling comorbidities. Furthermore, we propose that the beneficial effects of metformin we observed towards seizure development, are related to a normalization of both GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 expression levels. Overall, our results support the hypothesis that an altered glycometabolic profile could play a pro-epileptic role in human patients. We therefore recommend that MetS or T2DM should be constantly monitored and possibly avoided in patients with epilepsy, since they could further aggravate this latter condition.

Deleted: epilepsy

Keywords: type 2 diabetes; metabolic syndrome, epilepsy, glucose transporters, behavioral comorbidities.

Introduction

A European cohort study has demonstrated that patients with epilepsy (PWE) are at higher risk of comorbid illnesses in comparison to the general population. Predominantly, this risk is increased in patients with uncontrolled epilepsy [1]. Recently, studies documented that patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus have a higher risk of developing epilepsy than the general population, although the underlying mechanisms remain unknown [2, 3]. In contrast, little is known about the risk of epilepsy in patients with type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and/or metabolic syndrome (MetS) [4]. Interestingly, some clinical and preclinical studies reported that hyperglycemia and/or obesity, which represent risk factors for T2DM, can precipitate seizures, particularly those of focal onset [5–9]. Furthermore, it has been well-established that several diseases associated with MetS and/or T2DM such as hypertension and stroke are also predisposing factors to epilepsy [10–12], whereas others such as cognitive impairment, anxiety and depression are well-documented comorbidities of both conditions [13–15].

On the other hand, some antiseizure medications (ASMs) can alter the metabolic milieu of the body; for example, weight gain and hyperinsulinemia are well known side effects of valproic acid, carbamazepine, gabapentin and other ASMs, although not all ASMs may have an impact on weight or may, as with topiramate, even reduce it [16–18]. Furthermore, metabolic disorders typically featured by insulin resistance, such as obesity, dyslipidemia, altered leptin/adiponectin ratio, total antioxidant status and others, are often associated with epilepsy [17, 19, 20]. Interestingly, antidiabetic drugs, with different mechanisms of action, have demonstrated beneficial effects in several animal models of epilepsy [21–24].

Glucose transporters (GLUT) are a family of transport proteins jointly acting to supply glucose in cells through a facilitated passive passage of glucose down its concentration gradient [25]. Specifically, GLUT-1 is present in several human cell types and it is the prominent glucose transporter at both blood brain barrier (BBB) level and astrocytes [26], while GLUT-3 is mostly

expressed in neurons [27, 28]. Astrocytes are contributors to brain glucose uptake and represent the dominant route for uptake during periods of intense synaptic activity [29]. In fact, as previously demonstrated, the expression level of these glucose transporters is regulated in concert with metabolic demand and regional rates of neuronal glucose consumption [30, 31]. An altered glucose transport across the BBB is linked to epilepsy, such as in the case of GLUT-1 deficiency syndrome (GLUT1-DS), due to a mutation of the SLCA1 gene that promotes refractory generalized seizures [32]. Metformin, an insulin sensitizing biguanide derivate, represents the first line oral hypoglycemic drug for the treatment of T2DM [33, 34]. Metformin exerts pleiotropic effects partly through of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) related pathways [35, 36]. Interestingly, metformin has shown anticonvulsant effects in some animal models of epilepsy and has been considered a candidate for drug repurposing [23, 37–39].

Altogether, it seems reasonable to believe that insulin resistance, MetS and T2DM may have an influence on neuronal excitability and therefore on seizure development [4]. Therefore, we hypothesized that MetS linked to T2DM and obesity could increase seizure propensity and that metformin would be effective in reverting this phenomenon. Accordingly, we tested whether a high fat diet (HFD), inducing insulin-resistant diabetes and obesity in mice [31], would increase susceptibility to develop generalized seizures induced by pentylenetetrazole (PTZ) kindling, a well-validated model of epileptogenesis and epilepsy, where hypertension is also a predisposing factor [40]. Furthermore, molecular mechanisms linked to glucose brain transport and metformin effects were studied along with neuropsychiatric comorbidities.

Materials and Methods

Animals

Four-week old male CD1 mice ($n = 188$) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories s.r.l. (Calco, Lecco, Italia) and housed 3/4 per cage and kept under stable conditions of humidity ($60 \pm 5\%$) and temperature (22 ± 2 °C) with a 12/12-h reversed light/dark cycle (lights on at 20:00). Tap water and food pellets were provided *ad libitum* until the time of the experiments. In detail, mice were fed either a normocaloric diet (NCD; standard laboratory chow, Teklad Global Rodent Diets, ENVIGO RMS S.r.l, Italy) or a high fat diet (HFD) containing 59% kcal fat, 15% kcal protein and 25% kcal carbohydrate (Laboratory Dott. Piccioni, Milan, Italy). Procedures involving animals and their care were conducted in conformity with the international and national law and policies (EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments, ARRIVE guidelines and the Basel declaration including the 3R concept) and approved by the Animal Care Committee (Authorization n° 177/2019-PR) of the University of Catanzaro, Italy. All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering and to reduce the number of animals used.

Experimental Summary

We planned two different sets of experiments: in *experiment #1* we aimed to determine HFD effects on some metabolic and behavioral parameters in the mice, in order to have a baseline reference for kindling experiments in the second section of our protocol. Male CD1 mice were randomly divided into two groups, fed with NCD ($n = 14$) and HFD ($n = 14$) for 8 weeks, respectively (Fig.S1). During this period, mice were weighed weekly and, at the same time, food and drink intake were measured for all animals until the end of the experimental protocol. At the end of the 8th week of dietary manipulation, both groups of mice were subjected to quantitative magnetic resonance (QMR). Subsequently, NCD and HFD mouse groups were randomly divided into two subgroups for type of fed diet ($n = 7$; Fig.S1) before being experimentally evaluated. In detail, the first subgroup, for both types of diet, was subjected to an intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT), whereas the second subgroup, for both types

of diet, was subjected to an insulin tolerance test (ITT). Furthermore, one week after IPGTT and ITT, the first subgroup of mice, for both types of diet, was used to perform the Morris water maze (MWM), whereas the second subgroups were used to carry out the forced swimming test (FST), open field test (OFT) and passive avoidance (PA) test (see Section Behavioral tests). As described above for *experiment#1*, to test seizure susceptibility and its related neuropsychiatric comorbidities in a mouse model of T2DM, as well as the effectiveness of metformin in reverting this phenomenon, CD1 mice (*experiment #2*), after being randomly divided into 2 groups, were respectively fed with NCD ($n = 80$) and HFD ($n = 80$) until the end of the experimental protocol (Fig.1). During the entire experimental period, mice were weighed weekly and, at the same time, food and drink intake were also measured for all animals. At the 7th week of dietary manipulation, mice were randomly divided, for both types of diet, into the following four groups ($n = 20$ in each group; Fig.1):

- 1) Control group (NCD Vehicle);
- 2) PTZ-kindling control group (NCD KINDL);
- 3) Control group treated with metformin (NCD+MET);
- 4) PTZ-kindling control group treated with metformin (NCD+MET KINDL)
- 5) High fat diet group (HFD Vehicle)
- 6) PTZ-kindling HFD group (HFD KINDL)
- 7) High fat diet group treated with metformin (HFD+MET)
- 8) PTZ-kindling HFD group treated with metformin (HFD+MET KINDL)

At this time point, the metformin-treated groups started oral drug treatment, up to the end of the experimental protocol, whereas the other untreated mice received vehicle. Metformin was administered orally at a dosage of 300 mg/Kg/day [41], by dissolving 300 mg in 100 ml of drinking water. This dosage was chosen based on the knowledge that mice drink, on average, 10 ml/100 g/day [42]. Subsequently, in order to evaluate the susceptibility to seizures, all

animals, in every group were intraperitoneally (i.p.) injected with either saline or PTZ every other day starting from the end of the 8th week of dietary manipulation (established T2DM in HFD fed mice) up to kindling development [42]. As previously reported, for every single experimental group, testing started 24h after the last PTZ-administration necessary to achieve the kindling criterion within the group [24]. Similarly, testing, for non-kindled groups, commenced contemporarily with their respective kindled control groups. In detail, when an experimental group was defined as kindled, after being weighed, was subjected to QMR ($n=20/\text{group}$). At the end of this procedure, in order to study glucose transporter protein levels and to perform several metabolic and behavioral tests, every experimental group was randomly divided into three subgroups (Fig.1). The first subgroup ($n = 6$ for both types of diet) was only used to collect brain samples in order to study glucose transporters (GLUT-1 and -3), whereas the second and the third subgroups ($n = 7/\text{group}$), for both types of diet, were subjected to an intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) and to an insulin tolerance test (ITT), respectively. Furthermore, one week after IPGTT and ITT, the second subgroup of mice was used to perform the MWM, whereas the third subgroup was used to carry out the FST, open field test and passive avoidance test (see Section Behavioral tests).

Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) and insulin tolerance test (ITT)

Blood glucose levels were verified by intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) and insulin tolerance test (ITT), as previously described [41]. Briefly, the IPGTT was performed in mice fasted for 6 hours, administering intraperitoneally (i.p.) glucose at 1 g/Kg body weight. Subsequently, blood samples were collected from the tail vein at 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 min after glucose injection. Fasting blood glucose (FBG) levels were measured with an automatic glucometer (Glucomen LX, Menarini Diagnostics, Firenze). Likewise, the ITT was carried out after i.p. injection of insulin (1Units/kg body weight Regular®, Novorapid, Novonordisk,

Rome, Italy), as previously described [43]. Briefly, blood samples were collected from the tail vein at 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 min and FBG levels were assessed as reported above.

Development of pentylenetetrazole kindling

Chemical-kindling was induced by a subconvulsive dose of PTZ (30 mg/kg/i.p.) administered every other day (between 9:00 and 11:00), as previously described [42, 44]. After PTZ injection, mice were placed in a single cage (100 cm wide x 100 cm x 50 cm high) and monitored for 30 min and seizures were scored according to the following scale: 0 = no change in behavior; 0.5 = abnormal behavior (sniffing, extensive washing, orientation); 1 = isolate myoclonic jerks; 2 = atypical (unilateral or incomplete) clonic seizures; 3 = fully developed bilateral forelimb clonus; 3.5 = forelimb clonus with a tonic component and twist of body; 4 = tonic-clonic seizure with suppressed tonic phase; only clonus of all limbs; 5 = fully developed tonic-clonic seizures. The maximum response was recorded for each mouse. Mice were considered fully kindled when exhibiting 3 consecutive stage 5 seizures [42, 44].

Behavioral tests

In order to reduce the number of animals used and avoid the effect played by different tasks in the same rodent, mice were divided as reported above (see Fig.1 and S1). Furthermore, when two tests were carried out on the same mouse, at least 1 day (range 1–3 days) was allowed as previously reported by [45]. All behavioral tests were conducted under controlled environmental conditions, including temperature, humidity, and light intensity (dim illumination), and with the support of video-tracking software (EthoVision XT8; Noldus Information Technology, Wageningen, the Netherlands) [21]. Experiments were always performed between 09:00 and 11:00 in order to avoid possible circadian alterations.

Deleted:

Deleted: Leo et al., 2017

Furthermore, regarding treatment and dietary manipulation, when the same group of mice was subjected to multiple behavioral tests and/or repeated tasks of the same test, drug and diet were continued up to the end of the experimental protocol.

Forced swimming test (FST)

Despite some limitations, the FST is widely used to study depressive-like behavior in rodents [21]. We used a FST protocol previously validated in our and other laboratories [21]. Briefly, mice were placed individually (for 6 min) and forced to swim in a glass cylinder (height: 26.5 cm, diameter: 16.5 cm) containing 15 cm of water, maintained at 22-23°C [46]. The immobility time (IT), directly related with depressive-like behavior, including passive swimming, was assessed during the last 4 min of the test. The condition for passive swimming was floating vertically in the water while making only those movements necessary to keep the head off the surface of the water. After the test, mice were dried and then normally housed. Mean swimming velocity was also evaluated and analyzed.

Open-Field (OFT)

Locomotor performance was investigated for 10 min in an open-field (OFT) maze formed from a white 50 × 50-cm Plexiglas box with its floor divided into 9 squares. The central square was defined as the center of the box in which the mouse was placed at the beginning of the test, while the 8 squares along the walls were considered as the periphery. After each trial, the arena was systematically cleaned (70% ethanol) to remove olfactory cues. The OFT was performed as previously reported [47]. The parameters measured were the time spent in the center, the number of entries in the center, the total distance moved and the mean velocity during 10 min

of test. Diminished exploratory (locomotor) activity in the OFT is commonly considered as a measure of augmented levels of anxiety/emotionality and *vice versa* [47].

Passive Avoidance (PA)

Passive avoidance (PA) is used to study learning and memory in rodents [48]. Mice were tested in a step-through apparatus (Ugo Basile, Varese, Italy) measuring 47x18x25 cm, composed of a cage divided into two compartments (light and dark) by a sliding door. The PA test was performed over two consecutive days, as previously described [49]. Briefly, on day 1, mice were individually placed in the light compartment and allowed to freely explore the entire apparatus for 5 min (habituation trial). Subsequently, 15 min after the habituation, the conditioning or learning trial was started. In detail, mice were individually placed in the light compartment with the sliding door closed. Following 30 sec of delay, the sliding door that separates the two compartments was automatically opened. When the mouse entered into the dark chamber, an electrical foot shock (0.5 mA for 3 sec) was administered by the floor grid. The latency to enter (s) in the dark compartment was recorded and analyzed. After each trial, the apparatus was systematically cleaned to remove olfactory cues (70% ethanol). The retention trial was performed 24h later (day 2) by re-introducing the mouse into the light compartment. The mouse's memory was evaluated by recording the latency (s) to enter into the dark compartment; however, no foot shock was administered. The cut-off time for this session was 300 s. Retention memory is directly related to time taken to enter the dark chamber [49].

Morris Water Maze test (MWM)

The Morris water maze (MWM) test is widely used to investigate spatial learning and memory in rodents [50]. MWM was performed in a circular pool (diameter 93 cm , height =45 cm),

divided into four quadrant and filled with water to a depth of 24 cm, as previously described [21]. An escape platform (8 cm in diameter) was submerged in the target quadrant, 1 cm below the water surface. On the walls, surrounding the pool, several visual cues were located. Mice were trained to find a hidden platform for 4 consecutive days with 4 sessions on each day as previously described [21]. During each session, mice were placed facing the pool wall in a chosen quadrant and each mouse was given 60 s to find the hidden platform; if a mouse failed to find it, it was guided gently to the platform and allowed to stay on it for 20 s. On the 5th day, after final acquisition, the platform was removed from the pool and a probe test was carried out for 60 s in order to test the mouse's retention memory. The time spent in the target quadrant and in all quadrants were recorded. Mean swimming velocity was also evaluated and analyzed for each group.

EchoMRI - quantitative magnetic resonance

Changes in fat mass composition in response to dietary manipulation were analyzed by quantitative magnetic resonance (QMR) (Echo MRI 700, Echo Medical Systems, Houston, USA) as previously described [41, 51]. Briefly, all mice groups, in each experimental protocol, between 9 and 11 a.m., were subjected to QMR. Total body fat, lean mass, free and total body water were quickly evaluated in a noninvasive manner. Each mouse was tested in duplicate, and readings were accepted if they differed by less than 10% [41]. After each session, the tube was systematically cleaned (70% ethanol) to remove olfactory cues.

Western Blot Analysis

Mice were decapitated, after 6h of fasting, and their brains were quickly removed and submerged in ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid. Subsequently, about 350 mg of brain tissue

was homogenized in Buffer A (Hepes pH 7.9 10 mM, KCl 10 mM, EDTA 0.1 mM, EGTA 0.1 mM, DTT 1mM, PMSF 0.5 mM). Nuclear and cytoplasmic extracts were prepared as previously described [52]. For western blot analysis, cytoplasmic proteins (50 µg) were resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (0.2 µm Bio-rad cat.1620112). Membranes were first immersed for 2 h in blocking solution (5% non-fat dry milk), then probed with antibodies raised against GLUT-1 (Novus Bio, Centennials, CO) and GLUT-3 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). After overnight incubation at 4°C, goat-anti rabbit IgG horseradish (Dako) and anti-mouse IgG horseradish (Dako) conjugates were added for 1 h at room temperature, and immune complexes were visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham). Western blots were normalized to beta-actin (GLUT-1) or tubulin (GLUT-3), as loading control proteins, and densitometric analysis was performed using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA 92037, USA). The two experimental protocols were separately analyzed and not compared. Data obtained from experiment #1 were analyzed and compared by *Student's t*-test. We used two-way-ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test to analyze and compare data obtained from experiment #2. In detail, we have separately investigated data obtained from dietary manipulation in mice subjected to PTZ-kindling, with diet (two levels) and kindling (two levels) as factors. Two-way-ANOVA was also used to separately analyze and compare data obtained from metformin treatment in mice subjected to dietary manipulation, with diet (two levels) and treatment (two levels) as factors. The effects of metformin treatment in kindled mice were also separately assessed, for type of diet, using a two-way ANOVA with kindling

and treatment as factors. Data were expressed as means \pm S.E.M. All tests used were to side and $p < 0.05$ was considered significant.

Results

Effects of dietary manipulation, kindling, treatment and their combinations on body composition

Not surprisingly, in both experimental protocols, HFD-fed mice had a significant weight gain, as a consequence of an increased percentage of body fat ($p < 0.01$; Fig. S2), compared to their respective NCD control group. At odds, no significant difference ($p > 0.05$) was noted on lean mass, or free and total body water (data not shown). Moreover, in both experimental protocols, there was no significant ($p > 0.05$) difference in food intake between NCD and HFD-fed mice groups; however, the amount of drinking water was significantly increased in HFD-fed mice groups in comparison to their respective NCD control group ($p = 0.03$; data not shown). Subsequently, in the experimental protocol#2, PTZ-kindling did not significantly ($p > 0.05$; Fig. S2) alter body weight and the percentage of body fat both in NCD and HFD fed mice groups. Likewise, PTZ-kindling did not alter drink and food intake in these experimental groups (data not shown). However, metformin was able to significantly ($p < 0.01$; Fig. S1 a, c) reduce body weight and the percentage of fat both in kindled HFD-fed mice and in non-kindled HFD-fed mice groups in comparison to their respective HFD untreated controls. Likewise, metformin was able to normalize drink and food intake in all HFD-fed mice groups (kindled and non-kindled mice). In contrast, no significant metformin effect on these parameters was noticed in all NCD mice groups (data not shown).

Deleted: Body weight, MRI quantification ¶

Effects of dietary manipulation, kindling, treatment and their combinations on blood glucose levels

IPGTT and ITT analysis, performed after dietary manipulation in both experimental protocols, showed a significant ($p < 0.01$; Fig. S3) increase in FBG levels in HFD-fed mice groups in comparison to NCD-fed mice groups. Moreover, in the experimental protocol #2, kindled NCD and HFD-fed mice had significantly ($p < 0.001$; Fig. S3) higher FBG levels than their respective control groups. Metformin significantly ($p < 0.01$; Fig. S3b, d) reduced FBG levels both in kindled-HFD and in non-kindled HFD-fed mice groups in comparison to their respective untreated control groups. Likewise, it significantly ($p < 0.01$) ameliorated glucose tolerance, and insulin sensitivity, as assessed by IPGTT and ITT, respectively, in kindled NCD mice groups, with FBG levels being maintained similar to NCD-fed control mice. No significant difference in FBG levels was however, detected in NCD-fed mice treated with metformin ($p > 0.05$; Fig. S3b, d).

Deleted: IPGTT and ITT

Development of pentylenetetrazol kindling,

Kindled seizures were directly proportional and cumulative with repeated exposure to PTZ injections in all mice. None of the mice convulsed on the first injection, although HFD-fed mice kindled before NCD-fed mice ($p < 0.001$); metformin-treatment was able to significantly ($p < 0.01$; Fig.2) influence the kindling process in both NCD and HFD-mice groups. In particular, the 3rd stage 5 seizure was reached after 16 PTZ injections in the HFD group, after 19 PTZ injections in the HFD+MET group, after 21 PTZ injections in the NCD+MET group and after 22 PTZ injections in the NCD group (Fig. 2). No mortality was observed during the testing period for every group.

Deleted: PTZ Kindling

Deleted:

Effects of dietary manipulation, kindling, treatment and their combinations on depressive and anxiety-like behavior: forced swimming test (FST) and open field test (OFT)

Deleted: Effects of HFD, kindling, metformin and their combinations on behavioral tests
Forced Swimming Test and Open Field Test

Post-hoc analysis revealed that there was no significant difference ($p > 0.05$) in the IT among experimental mice groups, in both experimental protocols, after dietary manipulation (Fig. S4b, c). Regarding the OFT, in the experimental protocol #1, no significant difference was observed between the NCD and HFD-fed mice groups (Fig. S4a). At odds, in the experimental protocols #2, HFD-fed mice had a significant reduction in the time spent in the center ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 3a) and in the number of entries in the center ($p = 0.0003$; Fig. 3b) in comparison to NCD-fed mice, showing an anxious-like behavior. Moreover, PTZ-kindling did not significantly ($p > 0.05$) modify these parameters in HFD-mice, whereas it was able to significantly reduce the time spent in the center and the number of entries ($p = 0.0001$ and $p = 0.0008$, respectively) in NCD-fed mice. Metformin treatment was significantly able to increase these two parameters both in kindled ($p = 0.0001$ and $p = 0.042$, respectively) and non-kindled ($p = 0.0001$ and $p = 0.047$, respectively) HFD-fed mice groups in comparison to their respective untreated control groups, reducing anxiety-like behavior. Likewise, metformin increased significantly these parameters in kindled ($p = 0.0001$ and $p = 0.004$, respectively) NCD-fed mice, with anxiety-like behavior being maintained similar to NCD-fed control mice. No significant ($p > 0.05$) difference was observed among metformin-treated NCD-fed mice groups and metformin-treated HFD-fed mice groups. Mean velocity and total distance moved did not significantly differ ($p > 0.05$) among groups in the OFT, supporting the absence of motor impairment.

Effects of dietary manipulation, kindling, treatment and their combinations on learning and memory performance: passive avoidance (PA)

Formatted: Font: Italic

Learning and memory decline were tested in the PA. After 8 weeks of dietary manipulation (Fig. S5a) no significant difference in cognitive performance was detected between mice

Deleted: Passive Avoidance

groups. In contrast, in the experimental protocol #2 (Fig. 4a), the HFD-fed mice group had a significantly ($p = 0.006$) shorter latency (s) to enter in the dark compartment in comparison to the NCD-fed control group, suggesting a cognitive impairment (Fig. 4a). PTZ-kindling did not significantly ($p > 0.05$) modify the latency to enter in the dark compartment neither in NCD-fed mice nor in HFD-fed mice in comparison to their respective control mice groups. At odds, metformin was significantly able to increase the latency to enter into the dark compartment in both treated (kindled and non-kindled) HFD-fed mice groups in comparison to their respective control untreated groups (HFD vs HFD+MET, $p = 0.017$; HFD KINDL vs HFD+MET KINDL, $p = 0.0049$; Fig. 4a). No significant ($p > 0.05$) difference was observed among NCD-fed mice groups.

Effects of dietary manipulation, kindling, treatment and their combinations on learning and memory performance: Morris water maze (MWM)

Post-hoc analysis revealed that after 8 weeks of dietary manipulation, there was no significant difference, neither in the latency to find the platform nor in the probe trial between NCD and HFD-fed mice groups, indicating no deterioration of spatial learning and memory (Fig. S5b, c). At odds, in the experimental protocol #2, both kindled and non-kindled HFD fed mice groups showed a significant ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 4b) increase in the latency to find the platform and they spent significantly ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 4c) less time in the target quadrant (s) in comparison to their respective NCD control groups. Moreover, PTZ-kindling did not significantly alter cognitive performance neither in NCD nor in HFD-fed mice groups, with these parameters being maintained similar to their respective control levels. It is noteworthy, that metformin treatment significantly ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 4b) decreased the latency to find the platform both in kindled and non-kindled HFD-fed mice groups, preventing cognitive decline. Likewise, metformin significantly ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 4c) increased the time spent in target quadrant in both

Deleted: *Morris Water Maze (MWM)*

mice groups. No significant difference ($p > 0.05$) was observed for other groups. The mean swimming velocity did not change ($p > 0.05$) among experimental groups, supporting the absence of motor impairment.

▼

Effects of dietary manipulation, kindling, treatment and their combinations on GLUT-1 and -3 expression

The expression of the glucose brain transporters GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 in whole brain, were quantified, only in the experimental protocol #2, by Western blot analysis. In detail, HFD-fed mice showed a significant ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 5a) reduction of GLUT-1 brain expression in comparison to NCD-fed mice. PTZ-kindling was able to significantly ($p = 0.002$; Fig. 5a) reduce GLUT-1 expression levels in kindled NCD-fed mice in comparison to NCD-fed control mice. Conversely, GLUT-1 expression was significantly ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 5a) increased in kindled HFD-fed mice in comparison to both non-kindled HFD-fed mice and kindled NCD-fed mice. Metformin treatment was able to normalize GLUT-1 expression in HFD-fed mice groups. In detail, metformin treatment significantly reduced GLUT-1 protein levels in kindled HFD mice whereas it was able to significantly increase GLUT-1 protein in HFD fed mice in comparison to their respective control untreated groups ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 5a). Surprisingly, metformin-treated NCD-fed mice had a significantly lower GLUT-1 level than untreated NCD-fed mice. Moreover, a slight, not significant ($p > 0.05$; Fig. 5a) increase of GLUT-1 protein levels was observed in the kindled NCD mice group after metformin treatment.

The GLUT-3 expression level was significantly ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 5b) increased in the HFD-fed mice group in comparison to the NCD-fed mice. PTZ-kindling was also able to significantly increase GLUT-3 expression both in NCD and HFD-fed mice groups ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 5b) in comparison to their respective non-kindled control mice. Metformin treatment significantly reduced ($p < 0.0001$; Fig. 5b) GLUT-3 expression in the kindled HFD-fed mice group, with the

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Western Blotting¶

Deleted: HFD

Deleted: metformin

protein level being maintained similar to non-kindled HFD-fed mice. At odds, metformin did not change GLUT-3 expression levels in non-kindled HFD-fed mice. Furthermore, metformin significantly ($p = 0.022$; Fig. 5b) reduced GLUT-3 expression in the kindled NCD-fed mice group in comparison to untreated kindled NCD-fed mice, whereas it significantly ($p = 0.015$; Fig. 5b) increased protein levels in NCD-fed mice. No significant difference on protein levels was observed after metformin treatment in the HFD-fed mice group.

Discussion

In accordance with our initial hypothesis, we have confirmed that HFD, by inducing changes linked to metabolic syndrome such as diabetes and obesity, predisposes towards ~~seizure~~ development in the PTZ-kindling model in mice and this is apparently linked to a reduction in GLUT-1 expression, as observed in GLUT1-DS in humans [53] and accompanied by an increased expression of GLUT-3. Furthermore, while we have confirmed that HFD also induces neuropsychiatric alterations in the mice (*e.g.* cognitive impairment, anxiety), it did not modify the development of kindling comorbidities [54, 55]. Finally, confirming the known anti-seizure efficacy of metformin in animal models of epilepsy [39], we observed that its effects were apparently linked to a standardized normalization of both GLUT-1 and -3 expression, which is observed in either NCD or HFD groups.

It is known that a fat-enriched diet gives rise to obesity, T2DM and/or MetS in several rodent strains, reproducing pathophysiological similarity to human medical conditions [56]; however, the metabolic responses may vary according to the specific rodent strain and duration of the high-fat diet exposure [57, 58]. In our experiments, we observed that, after 8 consecutive weeks of dietary manipulation, HFD-fed mice had both a significant weight gain (severe obesity) and worsening of their glycometabolic profile accompanied by an increased percentage of total body fat and an increased blood glucose level linked to insulin resistance. To note, we did not

Deleted: epilepsy

measure blood pressure and serum lipids to respectively evaluate hypertension and dyslipidemia in the mice (which was beyond the main aims of the present experiments) and therefore, we cannot meet the clinical criteria of MetS definition. However, this is debated in preclinical studies and these are considered valid models of MetS [57, 58]. Notably, in our study, after 8 consecutive weeks of fat-enriched diet manipulation in mice, we did not notice any significant difference in all our behavioral tests in contrast to previous observations [13, 31, 41]; however, this is likely due to the duration of HFD. In fact, as previously described for dementia in an experimental model of T2DM [59], we can suppose that a decline of metabolic brain homeostasis precedes and does not accompany neuropsychiatric complications [60]. In agreement, we found that HFD-fed mice showed neuropsychiatric-like comorbidities only after a long-term maintenance of fat-enriched diet (second part of experimental protocol). Finally, we confirmed that HFD-fed mice had a reduced expression of GLUT-1 and an increased expression of GLUT-3, in comparison to NCD controls [61, 62]. Interestingly, alterations of GLUT-1 expression levels have often been reported during cognitive impairment and mood disorders [63–66], therefore we can also hypothesize that any neuropsychiatric modifications we observed may be linked to a deficit of GLUT-1 [62]. Furthermore, null heterozygous GLUT-3 mice show several behavioral features suggesting autism spectrum disorders as well as electrographic discharges, but no clinical generalized seizures; however, GLUT-3 mutations would not seem to be related to generalized epilepsy in humans [67]. On the other hand, an impaired glucose transport through the BBB results in subjects with GLUT1-DS, a genetic neurometabolic disorder linked to a mutation in the GLUT1 (encoded by the SLC2A1 gene), characterized by severe infantile seizures, developmental delay, cognitive impairments and microcephaly [53, 67].

Based on this background, we believe that the observed higher susceptibility to develop PTZ-kindling of HFD-fed mice may be linked to GLUT1-DS, while the observed modifications in

GLUT-3 expression may be a compensatory mechanism to maintain cellular glucose intake. This is in agreement with previous observations indicating that cerebral glucose demand and its consumption are higher in epileptic brain, due to the increased neuronal excitability, than other brain activities [68, 69]. This higher propensity to develop chronic seizures by PTZ-kindling are in keeping with both clinical [5, 6] and preclinical evidence [7, 9, 70, 71], reporting that T2DM and its main drivers, such as hyperglycemia and/or obesity, can often precipitate seizures [4]. Despite methodological differences, these findings are partially consistent with previous findings demonstrating that the increase in brain metabolic energy demands during seizures experimentally induced by kainate and PTZ administration, lead to an increased GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 protein abundance in several brain regions [72]. Notably, the accompanying behavioral modifications in PTZ-kindling are not different between NCD and HFD-fed mice, indicating that this latter treatment does not apparently have an impact on comorbidity development.

In addition, we have also confirmed that metformin may ameliorate both the metabolic profile and several behavioral deficits linked to diabetes [41, 73, 74] as well as significantly decreasing seizure susceptibility in the PTZ-kindling model, thus showing *antiepileptogenic* effects [24, 75]. Furthermore, we observed that metformin treatment led to a renormalization of GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 expression levels and this could contribute to its antiepileptic properties. However, other mechanisms possessed by this drug may also have contributed to its effects [39]. For example, these beneficial effects could be due to metformin pleiotropic properties (*e.g.* antidiabetic, anti-inflammatory, antioxidative and neuroprotective effects), which have led to the suggestion that this drug can also be useful as add-on therapy, to manage several neurological diseases including epilepsy [76, 77].

Conclusions

Overall, our results confirm the hypothesis that an altered glycometabolic profile could play an epileptogenic role. In agreement with our data, it is interesting to hypothesize that metformin could be a potential and promising drug particularly for patients who have concurrent conditions of T2DM and epilepsy. Interestingly, other antidiabetic drugs, with different mechanisms of action, have demonstrated beneficial effects in several animal models of epilepsy and epileptogenesis [21, 22, 78], suggesting a link between these two disorders. Despite this, to date, the relationship between epilepsy and T2DM is poorly understood and suffers from a lack of epidemiological evidence and continued biomedical research efforts [4]. Moreover, based on the multifactorial etiology of T2DM and epilepsy [79, 80], the causes behind this relationship might be many and various, warranting for further preclinical and clinical studies. In particular, these studies should also clarify what diabetic drivers (*e.g.* obesity, hypertension, hyperglycemia) are more likely predisposing towards seizure onset. To notice, recent studies have highlighted the contribute of gut inflammation and the consequent dysbiosis in both these pathologies [81, 82], therefore future studies should also focus on the potential role of peripheral inflammation and microbiome in these conditions [83]. Furthermore, another question that deserves to be addressed is whether epilepsy represents a cause and/or a consequence of diabetes. Interestingly, it has been reported that common mechanisms such as mitochondrial dysfunction and dysregulation of energy demand predispose people towards seizure development, obesity and diabetes [4, 31]. In ours model, the increased seizure susceptibility and neuropsychiatric comorbidities could arise independently and separately from the same brain network abnormalities linked to diabetes. Finally, our data indicate that MetS or T2DM should be constantly monitored and possibly avoided in patients with epilepsy, since they may further aggravate this latter condition.

Deleted: epilepsy

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank to Dr. Giovanni Bosco Politi for providing technical help.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: ER, AL, AB. Performed the experiments: VN, AL, MT, BA. Analyzed the data and wrote the paper: AL, ER, VN, AC. Commented on the paper and provided feedback on the discussion: GDS, RC. Corrected and modified the manuscript: all authors.

Funding information

This work was partly supported by the Italian Ministry of Health. Grant No. GR-2013-02355028. This work was partly supported by the Italian Ministry of University and Research (MIUR). Prot. 2017YZF7MA.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

Ethical Approval

The experimental protocols and the procedures reported here were approved (Authorization n° 177/2019-PR) by the Animal Care Committee of the University of Catanzaro, Italy.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest to be disclosed.

References

1. Cramer JA, Wang ZJ, Chang E, et al (2014) Healthcare utilization and costs in adults with stable and uncontrolled epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* 31:356–362.
<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.09.046>
2. Mastrangelo M, Tromba V, Silvestri F, Costantino F (2019) Epilepsy in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus: Pathophysiological basis and clinical hallmarks. *Eur. J. Paediatr. Neurol.* 23:240–247
3. Chou IC, Wang CH, Lin W De, et al (2016) Risk of epilepsy in type 1 diabetes mellitus: a population-based cohort study. *Diabetologia* 59:1196–1203.
<https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-3929-0>
4. Shlobin NA, Sander JW (2020) Drivers for the comorbidity of type 2 diabetes mellitus and epilepsy: A scoping review. *Epilepsy Behav* 106:107043.
<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107043>
5. Harden CL, Rosenbaum DH, Daras M (1991) Hyperglycemia Presenting with Occipital Seizures. *Epilepsia* 32:215–220. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1157.1991.tb05247.x>
6. Berkovic SF, Johns JA, Bladin PF (1982) Focal Seizures and Systemic Metabolic Disorders. *Aust N Z J Med* 12:620–623. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-5994.1982.tb02650.x>
7. Schwechter EM, Velišková J, Velišek L (2003) Correlation between extracellular glucose and seizure susceptibility in adult rats. *Ann Neurol* 53:91–101.
<https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.10415>
8. Koltai M, Minker E (1975) Changes of electro-shock seizure threshold in alloxan

diabetic rats. *Experientia* 31:1369. <https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01945833>

9. Tutka P, Sawiniec J, Kleinrok Z (1998) Experimental diabetes sensitizes mice to electrical- and bicuculline- induced convulsions. In: *Polish Journal of Pharmacology*. pp 92–93
10. Leo A, De Caro C, Nesci V, et al (2020) Modeling poststroke epilepsy and preclinical development of drugs for poststroke epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 104
11. Gasparini S, Ferlazzo E, Sueri C, et al (2019) Hypertension, seizures, and epilepsy: a review on pathophysiology and management. *Neurol Sci* 40:1775–1783. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-019-03913-4>
12. Ferlazzo E, Gasparini S, Beghi E, et al (2016) Epilepsy in cerebrovascular diseases: Review of experimental and clinical data with meta-analysis of risk factors. *Epilepsia* 57:1205–1214. <https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.13448>
13. Palleria C, Leporini C, Maida F, et al (2016) Potential effects of current drug therapies on cognitive impairment in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Front Neuroendocrinol* 42:76–92. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfme.2016.07.002>
14. Kanner AM (2016) Management of psychiatric and neurological comorbidities in epilepsy. *Nat Rev Neurol* 12:106–116. <https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2015.243>
15. Moulton CD, Pickup JC, Ismail K (2015) The link between depression and diabetes: The search for shared mechanisms. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 3:461–471
16. Hamed SA (2014) Antiepileptic drugs influences on body weight in people with epilepsy. *Expert Rev. Clin. Pharmacol.* 8:103–114
17. Nisha Y, Bobby Z, Wadwekar V (2018) Biochemical derangements related to metabolic syndrome in epileptic patients on treatment with valproic acid. *Seizure*

60:57–60. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2018.06.003>

18. Ben-Menachem E (2007) Weight issues for people with epilepsy - A review. In: *Epilepsia*. pp 42–45
19. Pearson-Smith JN, Patel M (2017) Metabolic dysfunction and oxidative stress in epilepsy. *Int J Mol Sci* 18:2365. <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18112365>
20. Mohamed S, El Melegy EM, Talaat I, et al (2015) Neurometabolic Disorders-Related Early Childhood Epilepsy: A Single-Center Experience in Saudi Arabia. *Pediatr Neonatol* 56:393–401. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedneo.2015.02.004>
21. Citraro R, Iannone M, Leo A, et al (2019) Evaluation of the effects of liraglutide on the development of epilepsy and behavioural alterations in two animal models of epileptogenesis. *Brain Res Bull* 153:133–142. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2019.08.001>
22. Erdogan MA, Yusuf D, Christy J, et al (2018) Highly selective SGLT2 inhibitor dapagliflozin reduces seizure activity in pentylenetetrazol-induced murine model of epilepsy. *BMC Neurol* 18:. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12883-018-1086-4>
23. Mehrabi S, Sanadgol N, Barati M, et al (2018) Evaluation of metformin effects in the chronic phase of spontaneous seizures in pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Metab Brain Dis* 33:107–114. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-017-0132-z>
24. Zhao RR, Xu XC, Xu F, et al (2014) Metformin protects against seizures, learning and memory impairments and oxidative damage induced by pentylenetetrazole-induced kindling in mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 448:414–417. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.04.130>
25. Holman GD (2018) Chemical biology probes of mammalian GLUT structure and function. *Biochem J* 475:3511–3534. <https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20170677>

26. Simpson IA, Appel NM, Hokari M, et al (1999) Blood-brain barrier glucose transporter: Effects of hypo- and hyperglycemia revisited. *J Neurochem* 72:238–247. <https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.1999.0720238.x>
27. Maher F, Vannucci SJ, Simpson IA (1994) Glucose transporter proteins in brain. *FASEB J* 8:1003–1011. <https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.8.13.7926364>
28. Joost HG, Bell GI, Best JD, et al (2002) Nomenclature of the GLUT/SLC2A family of sugar/polyol transport facilitators. *Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab* 282:. <https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00407.2001>
29. Siracusa R, Fusco R, Cuzzocrea S (2019) Astrocytes: Role and functions in brain pathologies. *Front Pharmacol*. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.01114>
30. Vannucci SJ, Clark RR, Koehler-Stec E, et al (1998) Glucose transporter expression in brain: Relationship to cerebral glucose utilization. In: *Developmental Neuroscience*. pp 369–379
31. Garcia-Serrano AM, Duarte JMN (2020) Brain Metabolism Alterations in Type 2 Diabetes: What Did We Learn From Diet-Induced Diabetes Models? *Front Neurosci* 14:. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00229>
32. Panandikar GA, Ravat SH, Ansari RR, Desai KM (2018) Rare and treatable cause of early-onset refractory absence seizures. *J Pediatr Neurosci* 13:358–361. https://doi.org/10.4103/JPN.JPN_146_17
33. Nathan DM, Buse JB, Davidson MB, et al (2009) Medical management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes: A consensus algorithm for the initiation and adjustment of therapy. *Diabetes Care* 32:193–203. <https://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-9025>
34. Mirabelli M, Chiefari E, Caroleo P, et al (2019) Long-term effectiveness of liraglutide for weight management and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes. *Int J Environ Res*

Public Health. <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010207>

35. Morales DR, Morris AD (2015) Metformin in Cancer Treatment and Prevention. *Annu Rev Med* 66:17–29. <https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-062613-093128>
36. Fan H, Yu X, Zou Z, et al (2019) Metformin suppresses the esophageal carcinogenesis in rats treated with NMBzA through inhibiting AMPK/mTOR signaling pathway. *Carcinogenesis* 40:669–679. <https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgy160>
37. Rubio Osornio M del C, Custodio Ramírez V, Calderón Gámez D, et al (2018) Metformin Plus Caloric Restriction Show Anti-epileptic Effects Mediated by mTOR Pathway Inhibition. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* 38:1425–1438. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-018-0611-8>
38. Brueggeman L, Sturgeon ML, Martin RM, et al (2019) Drug repositioning in epilepsy reveals novel antiseizure candidates. *Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol.* 6:295–309
39. Yimer EM, Surur A, Wondafrash DZ, Gebre AK (2019) The effect of metformin in experimentally induced animal models of epileptic seizure. *Behav. Neurol.* 2019
40. Russo E, Leo A, Scicchitano F, et al (2017) Cerebral small vessel disease predisposes to temporal lobe epilepsy in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Brain Res Bull* 130:245–250. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2017.02.003>
41. Cassano V, Leo A, Tallarico M, et al (2020) Metabolic and cognitive effects of ranolazine in type 2 diabetes mellitus: Data from an in vivo model. *Nutrients* 12:. <https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12020382>
42. Russo E, Chimirri S, Aiello R, et al (2013) Lamotrigine positively affects the development of psychiatric comorbidity in epileptic animals, while psychiatric comorbidity aggravates seizures. *Epilepsy Behav* 28:232–240. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.05.002>

43. Lombardo GE, Arcidiacono B, De Rose RF, et al (2016) Normocaloric diet restores weight gain and insulin sensitivity in obese mice. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 7:. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2016.00049>
44. De Sarro G, Ibbadu GF, Marra R, et al (2004) Seizure susceptibility to various convulsant stimuli in dystrophin-deficient mdx mice. *Neurosci Res* 50:37–44. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2004.05.007>
45. Leo A, Citraro R, Amodio N, et al (2017) Fingolimod Exerts only Temporary Antiepileptogenic Effects but Longer-Lasting Positive Effects on Behavior in the WAG/Rij Rat Absence Epilepsy Model. *Neurotherapeutics* 14:1134–1147. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-017-0550-y>
46. Leo A, De Caro C, Nesci V, et al (2019) Antiepileptogenic effects of Ethosuximide and Levetiracetam in WAG/Rij rats are only temporary. *Pharmacol Reports* 71:833–838. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharep.2019.04.017>
47. Russo E, Leo A, Crupi R, et al (2016) Everolimus improves memory and learning while worsening depressive- and anxiety-like behavior in an animal model of depression. *J Psychiatr Res* 78:1–10. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.03.008>
48. Leo A, Citraro R, Tallarico M, et al (2019) Cognitive impairment in the WAG/Rij rat absence model is secondary to absence seizures and depressive-like behavior. *Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry* 94:109652. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2019.109652>
49. Citraro R, Leo A, Franco V, et al (2017) Perampanel effects in the WAG/Rij rat model of epileptogenesis, absence epilepsy, and comorbid depressive-like behavior. *Epilepsia* 58:231–238. <https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.13629>
50. Palleria C, Leo A, Andreozzi F, et al (2017) Liraglutide prevents cognitive decline in a

rat model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes independently from its peripheral metabolic effects. *Behav Brain Res* 321:157–169.

<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.01.004>

51. Bax EN, Cochran KE, Mao J, et al (2019) Opposing effects of S-equol supplementation on metabolic and behavioral parameters in mice fed a high-fat diet. *Nutr Res* 64:39–48. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2018.12.008>
52. Arcidiacono B, Chiefari E, Messineo S, et al (2018) HMGA1 is a novel transcriptional regulator of the FoxO1 gene. *Endocrine* 60:56–64. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-017-1445-8>
53. Wang D, Pascual JM, Yang H, et al (2005) Glut-1 deficiency syndrome: Clinical, genetic, and therapeutic aspects. *Ann Neurol* 57:111–118. <https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20331>
54. Almeida-Suhett CP, Graham A, Chen Y, Deuster P (2017) Behavioral changes in male mice fed a high-fat diet are associated with IL-1 β expression in specific brain regions. *Physiol Behav*. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.11.016>
55. Duthel S, Ota KT, Wohleb ES, et al (2016) High-Fat Diet Induced Anxiety and Anhedonia: Impact on Brain Homeostasis and Inflammation. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. <https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.357>
56. Rossmesl M, Rim JS, Koza RA, Kozak LP (2003) Variation in type 2 diabetes - Related traits in mouse strains susceptible to diet-induced obesity. *Diabetes* 52:1958–1966. <https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.8.1958>
57. Montgomery MK, Hallahan NL, Brown SH, et al (2013) Mouse strain-dependent variation in obesity and glucose homeostasis in response to high-fat feeding. *Diabetologia*. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-013-2846-8>

58. Wong SK, Chin KY, Suhaimi FH, et al (2016) Animal models of metabolic syndrome: a review. *Nutr Metab* 13:1–12. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12986-016-0123-9>
59. Takechi R, Lam V, Brook E, et al (2017) Blood-brain barrier dysfunction precedes cognitive decline and neurodegeneration in diabetic insulin resistant mouse model: An implication for causal link. *Front Aging Neurosci* 9:. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00399>
60. Thaler JP, Yi CX, Schur EA, et al (2012) Obesity is associated with hypothalamic injury in rodents and humans. *J Clin Invest* 122:153–162. <https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI59660>
61. Vannucci SJ, Maher F, Koehler E, Simpson IA (1994) Altered expression of GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 glucose transporters in neurohypophysis of water-deprived or diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab* 267:. <https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1994.267.4.e605>
62. Schüller R, Seebeck N, Osterhoff MA, et al (2018) VEGF and GLUT1 are highly heritable, inversely correlated and affected by dietary fat intake: Consequences for cognitive function in humans. *Mol Metab* 11:129–136. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2018.02.004>
63. Mooradian AD, Chung HC, Shah GN (1997) GLUT-1 expression in the cerebra of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 18:469–474. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-4580\(97\)00111-5](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-4580(97)00111-5)
64. Szablewski L (2017) Glucose Transporters in Brain: In Health and in Alzheimer's Disease. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 55:1307–1320
65. Liu Y, Liu F, Iqbal K, et al (2008) Decreased glucose transporters correlate to abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau in Alzheimer disease. *FEBS Lett* 582:359–364.

<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.12.035>

66. Kahl KG, Georgi K, Bleich S, et al (2016) Altered DNA methylation of glucose transporter 1 and glucose transporter 4 in patients with major depressive disorder. *J Psychiatr Res* 76:66–73. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.02.002>
67. Hildebrand MS, Damiano JA, Mullen SA, et al (2014) Glucose metabolism transporters and epilepsy: Only GLUT1 has an established role. *Epilepsia* 55:. <https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.12519>
68. Chapman AG, Meldrum BS, Siesjö BK (1977) Cerebral Metabolic Changes During Prolonged Epileptic Seizures in Rats. *J Neurochem* 28:1025–1035. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1977.tb10665.x>
69. Meldrum BS (1983) Metabolic factors during prolonged seizures and their relation to nerve cell death. *Adv Neurol* 34:261–275
70. Mantis JG, Centeno NA, Todorova MT, et al (2004) Management of multifactorial idiopathic epilepsy in EL mice with caloric restriction and the ketogenic diet: Role of glucose and ketone bodies. *Nutr Metab* 1:. <https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-1-11>
71. Alzoubi KH, Hasan ZA, Khabour OF, et al (2018) The effect of high-fat diet on seizure threshold in rats: Role of oxidative stress. *Physiol Behav* 196:1–7. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.08.011>
72. Gronlund KM, Gerhart DZ, Leino RL, et al (1996) Chronic seizures increase glucose transporter abundance in rat brain. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 55:832–840. <https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-199607000-00008>
73. Zemdegis J, Martin H, Pintana H, et al (2019) Metformin promotes anxiolytic and antidepressant-like responses in insulin-resistant mice by decreasing circulating branched-chain amino acids. *J Neurosci* 39:5935–5948.

<https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2904-18.2019>

74. Caroleo M, Carbone EA, Greco M, et al (2019) Brain-behavior-immune interaction: Serum cytokines and growth factors in patients with eating disorders at extremes of the body mass index (bmi) spectrum. *Nutrients*. <https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11091995>
75. Yang Y, Zhu B, Zheng F, et al (2017) Chronic metformin treatment facilitates seizure termination. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 484:450–455. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.01.157>
76. H S N, Paudel YN, K L K (2019) Envisioning the neuroprotective effect of Metformin in experimental epilepsy: A portrait of molecular crosstalk. *Life Sci* 233:. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2019.116686>
77. Wang YW, He SJ, Feng X, et al (2017) Metformin: A review of its potential indications. *Drug Des Devel Ther* 11:2421–2429. <https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S141675>
78. Liu Y, Hou B, Zhang Y, et al (2018) Anticonvulsant agent DPP4 inhibitor sitagliptin downregulates CXCR3/RAGE pathway on seizure models. *Exp Neurol* 307:90–98. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2018.06.004>
79. Langenberg C, Lotta LA (2018) Genomic insights into the causes of type 2 diabetes. *Lancet* 391:2463–2474
80. Devinsky O, Vezzani A, O'Brien TJ, et al (2018) Epilepsy
81. Cordaro M, Scuto M, Siracusa R, et al (2020) Effect of N-palmitoylethanolamine-oxazoline on comorbid neuropsychiatric disturbance associated with inflammatory bowel disease. *FASEB J*. <https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201901584RR>
82. De Caro C, Leo A, Nesci V, et al (2019) Intestinal inflammation increases convulsant

activity and reduces antiepileptic drug efficacy in a mouse model of epilepsy. *Sci Rep.*

<https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-50542-0>

83. De Caro C, Iannone LF, Citraro R, et al (2019) Can we ‘seize’ the gut microbiota to treat epilepsy? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 107:750–764.

<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.10.002>

Figure Captions

Fig. 1 Scheme of the experimental protocol (# 2) used in this study. HFD = High fat Diet; NCD = normocaloric Diet; PTZ = pentylentetrazole; QMR = quantitative magnetic resonance; IPGTT = intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test; ITT = insulin tolerance test; FST = forced swimming test; OFT = open field test; PA = passive avoidance; MWM = Morris water maze

Fig. 2 Pentylentetrazole kindling development. Progression of kindling in four groups (metformin-treated and untreated NCD and HFD-fed mice) showing a faster development in HFD-fed mice in comparison to NCD- fed mice ($p < 0.001$). Metformin treatment in both groups of mice reduced seizure propensity. Data marked with * and # are significantly different ($p < 0.01$ and $p < 0.001$, respectively) from control mice

Fig. 3 Open field test performed, at the end of PTZ-kindling procedure (experimental protocol #2), in mice. Bars indicate a) the time spent in the center expressed in seconds (s), b) number of center entries. Data marked with * are significantly ($p < 0.01$) different from NCD-fed control mice, ° significantly ($p < 0.01$) different from NCD KINDL, and §, # are significantly ($p < 0.01$) different from HFD and HFD KINDL mice. Values are means \pm S.E.M. NCD = normocaloric diet group; NCD KINDL = kindled normocaloric diet group; NCD+MET = metformin-normocaloric diet group; NCD+MET KINDL = metformin kindled-normocaloric diet group; HFD = high fat diet group; HFD KINDL = kindled high fat diet group; HFD+MET = metformin- high fat diet group; HFD+MET KINDL = metformin kindled-high fat diet-treated group

Fig. 4 Passive avoidance and Morris water maze tests, performed, at the end of PTZ-kindling procedure (experimental protocol #2), in mice. Passive avoidance: a) Bars indicate the latency to enter into the dark chamber expressed in seconds. Morris water maze test: b) Learning curve (latency to platform) over 4 consecutive days; c) performance in the probe trial on the 5th day. Data marked with *,^o significantly ($p < 0.01$) different from controls and §,# significantly ($p < 0.01$) different from HFD and HFD KINDL. Values are means \pm S.E.M. NCD = normocaloric diet group; NCD KINDL = kindled normocaloric diet group; NCD+MET = metformin-normocaloric diet group; NCD+MET KINDL = metformin kindled-normocaloric diet group; HFD = high fat diet group; HFD KINDL = kindled high fat diet group; HFD+MET = metformin- high fat diet group; HFD+MET KINDL = metformin kindled-high fat diet-treated group

Fig. 5 Western Blotting experiment panel on GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 expressions. a) Columns represent mean relative protein levels of GLUT-1 normalized versus actin. b) Columns represent mean relative GLUT-3 protein levels expression normalized versus tubulin. Data marked with * are significantly ($p < 0.01$) different from NCD, ** are significantly different from HFD ($p < 0.01$) and §, # significantly ($p < 0.05$) different from NCD+MET and HFD+MET. Values are means \pm S.E.M of $n = 6$ experimental replicates. NCD = normocaloric diet group; NCD KINDL = kindled normocaloric diet group; NCD+MET = metformin-normocaloric diet group; NCD+MET KINDL = metformin kindled-normocaloric diet group; HFD = high fat diet group; HFD KINDL = kindled high fat diet group; HFD+MET = metformin-high fat diet group; HFD+MET KINDL = metformin kindled-high fat diet treated group